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sweet, O. J.

The plaintiffs in a private civil antitrust damages

action, In rEI Nasdaq Market-Makers Antitryst Litigation (hereafter,

"Plaintiffs"), have moved to intervene or appear as amici in this

civil action (the "Government Action") brought by the Antitrust

Division of the Department of Justice (the "DOJ" or the

• Government" ). Plaintiffs seek to compel filing and publication of

a • Settlement Memorandum" (and all evidentiary materials referenced

therein) prepared oy the DOJ and to challenge a provision of the

proposed Consent Decree in this action.

For the reasons set forth below, the Plaintiffs' motion

to intervene for the limited purposes described will be granted.

Thair motion to compel disclosure of the Settlement Memorandum and

underlying materials will be denied, and their objection to the

consent decree will be considered, along with other materials

provided by the Government and through the pUblic comment process,

at the time this Court determines whether entry of the consent

Decree is in the pUblic interest.

Part~es

The parties, facts and prior proceedings in the In re

Nasgag Market-Makers Antitrust bitigation, M.D.L. No. 1023 (the

"Multidistrict action" or the ·Private aotion") are described in
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the prior opinions of this court, familiarity with which is

assumed. See In re Nasdaq Market-Ma~ers Antit;ust Litigation,894

F.·SUpp. 703 (S.D.N.Y. 1995); 164 F.R.D. 346 (S.O.N.Y. 1995); No.

94 Civ. 3996, 1996 WL 187409 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 18, 1996); 929 F. Supp.

723 (S.D.N.Y. 1996); 929 F. Supp. 174 (S.D.N.Y. 1996); 938 F. Supp.

232 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).

In this Government action, defendants Alex. Brown' Sons

Inc., Bear, Stearns & co., Inc., CS First Boston Corp., Dean Witter

Reynolds, Inc., Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corp.,

Fuman Selz LLC, Goldman, Sachs & Co., Ha:mbrecht & Quist LLC,

Herzog, Heine, Geduld, Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc., Lehman

Brothers, Inc., Hayer & Schweitzer, Inc., Herrill Lynch, Pierce,

Fenner & Smith, Inc., Morgan Stanley & co., Inc., Nash, Weiss &

Co., Olde Discount Corp., painewebber Inc., Piper Jaffray Inc.,

Prudential Securities Inc., Salomon Brothers Inc., Sherwood

Securities Corp., Smith Barney Inc., Spear, Leeds & Kellogg, LP,

and UBS Securities LLC (collectively. the " Defenaants" ) are or were

market-makers on the Nasdaq exchange and purchased and sold stock

on Nasdaq.

The Plaintiffs in the Multidistrict action, who seek to

intervene here, inclUde the state of Louisiana. in its capacity as

parens Ratriae, trustee, guardian. and representative of Louisiana

investors allegedly damaged by the alleged price-fixing scheme, and

2



NOV 27 '96 13'28 FR S&S CCC M7•
nUlllerous individual plaintiffs who purchased or sold specified

Nasdaq Securities from market-makers or their affiliates.

Backqroun4 and Prior proceedings

On May 27, 1994, the first class action complaint in what

has become a multidistrict case, In re NASDAQ Market-Makers

Litigation, MOL 1023, was filed, following reports in the media of

a study by Professors William G. Christie and Paul H. Schultz

discussing the 'spread" between what market-makers on the Nasdaq

exchange offer to pay sellers for certain securities and the price

at Which they offer to sell the securities to buyers. The

complaint alleged improper manipulation of spreads through, inter

Al ia, a convention among brokers to not quote • odd eighths' on

certain securities. Eventually more than two dozen complaints were

filed around the country by various plaintiffs alleging variations

on the charge that the NASDAQ marxet-makers had engaged in a

conspiracy to avoid odd-eighth quotes in violation of the Sherman

Act, 15 U.S.C. §l. On October 14, 1994, the Judicial Panel on

MUltidistrict Litigation ordered that the actions already filed and

any actions filed later be assigned to this court. A "Consolidated

bended Complaint" was filed on December 16, 1994. More than

thirty actions involving t.hirty-three defendants have now been

consolidated in this Court as part of the multidistrict litigation.'

1. A more complete description of the background and
proceedings in the companion MUltidistrict Action is set forth in
the Opinion in that action issued by the Court today.

3



NOV 27 '96 13:28 FR S&S CCC M7•
In October 1994, the Antitrust Division of the Department

of Justice (the "DOJ" or the ·Government") announced that it was

undertaking a broad review of a nulllber of aspects of NASDAQ' s

market structure. 2 In its COll\petitive Impact statement (the

" CIS' ), the Government describes its inquiry as • a maj or, two-year

investigation by the Department of the trading activities of Nasdaq

securities dealers." The investigation actually began in the

summer of 1994, shortly after the public disclosure of the econOll\ic

study by Professors Christie and Schultz.

During the course of its investigation, the Government

reviewed thousands of pages of documents that were produced by the

twenty-four Defendants in this action and other market participants

in response to over 350 Civil Investigative Demands (·eIDS·) issued

by the DO.:r. The DOJ reviewed hundreds of responses to

interrogatories that were submitted by the Defendants and others.

The DOJ took over 225 depositions of individuals with knOWledge of

the trading practices of Nasdaq market-makers, including current

and former officers and employees of the Defendants and other

Nasdaq market-makers, as well as officials and committee members of

2. At least two other investigations into the operation of the
Nasdaq exchange have been commenced. On November 14, 1994, the
Securities and EXChange Commission (the "SEC") announced that it
would review the operation of NASDAQ, including the spreads issue
alleged in the Consolidated Amended Complaint and broader issues
concerning the structure of the market itself. On November 20,
1994, the National Association of Securities Dealers ("NASD")
announced the fOrlllation of a seven-member panel to undertake a
plenary review of the effectiveness of its own operation and
surveillance.
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the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. CO NASD" ), the

organization responsible for oversight of the Nasdaq market.

The DOJ conducted numerous telephone and in-person

interviews of current and former Nasdaq stock traders, Nasdaq

investors, and others with relevant knowledge of the industry, and

listened to approximately 4500 hours of aUdio tapes of telephone

calls petween stock traders employed by the Defendants and other

Nasdaq market-makers. These audio tapes had been recorded by

certain of the Defendants (and other market-makers) in the ordinary

course of their business and were produced to the Government in

response to its eIDs.

The DOJ reviewed and analyzed substantial quantities of

market data, inclUding information showing all market-maker quote

changes on Nasdaq during a twenty-month period. The DOJ also

reviewed eighteen months of data on trades in Nasdaq stocks.

Finally, the DOJ reviewed numerous transcripts of depositions taken

by the securities and Exchange COlllmission CO SEC" l in its concurrent

inquiry into the operations and activities of the NASD and the

Nasdaq market.

Based on the evidence uncovered during this sUbstantial

investigative effort, the Government concluded that the Defendants

and others had been engaged for a number of years in

anticompetitive conduct in violation of the Sherman Act.
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On July 17, 1996,the Government filed the complaint in

this civil action, pursuant to Section 4 of the Sherman Act, as

amended, 15 U.S.C. § 4, seeJdn9 equitable and other relief to

prevent and restrain violations of section 1 of the Sherman Act, as

amended, 15 U.S.C. § 1. In its complaint, the GOvernment alleged

that the Defendants and others adhered to and enforced a "quotinq

convention" that was designed to and did deter price competition

among the Defendants and other market-makers in their trading of

Nasdaq stocks with the general public. The Government believed

that investors incurred higher transaction costs for buyinq and

selling Nasdaq stocks than they would have incurred had the

Defendants not restrained competition through their illegal

agreement.

On the same day as the complaint in the Government action

was filed, the United States and the Defendants filed a stipulation

and Order (. proposed Order" or • proposed Consent Decree") to

resolve the allegations in the complaint. The Government contends

that the proposed Order will eliminate the anticompetitive conduct

identified in the complaint and establish procedures that will

ensure that such conduct does not recur. Specifically, the

proposed Order seeks to prevent the Defendants from agreeing with

other market-makers to adhere to the quoting convention, or to fix,

raise, lower, or maintain prices or quotes for Nasdaq securities.

The proposed Order also requires each defendant to adopt an

antitrust complianoe program and desi9nate an antitrust compliance
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officer to ensure the firm's future compliance with the antitrust

laws. To this end, the proposed decree requires the compliance

officer to: (~) randomly monitor and tape record telephone

conversations between stock traders1 and (2) report any violations

of the proposed Order within ten business days to the Antitrust

Division of the Department of Justice.

The proposed decree also requires that these tape

recordings be made available to the DOJ for its review. The

proposed Order gives the DOJ authority to receive complaints of

possible violations, to visit Defendants' offices unannounced to

monitor trader conversations as they are ongoing, to direct taping

of particular suspected violators, and to request copies of tapes

as they are made.

Paragraph IV (e) (6) of the proposed order provides:

Tapes made pursuant to this stipulation and order shall
be retained by each defendant for at least thirty (30)
days from the date of recording, and may be recycled
thereafter. Tapes made pursuant to this stipUlation and
order shall not be SUbject to civil process except for
process issued by the Antitrust Division, the SEC, the
NASD, or any other self-regUlatory organization, as
defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. Such tapes shall not be
admissible in evidence in civil proceedings, except in
actions, proceedings, investigations, or examinations
commenced by the Antitrust Division, the SEC, the NASD,
or any other self-regUlatory organization, as defined in
section 3(a) (26) ot the Securities Exchange Act of ~934,

as amended.
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In this opinion, Paragraph IV (C)(6) will be referred to as the

"non-disclosure" provision or the "prospective protective order."

In the course of conducting its investigation, the

Government prepared a • Settlement Memorandum,· or" briefing book,"

which was shared with Defendants in settlement negotiations. The

document sUIlll11arizes selected evidence compiled in the course of the

investigation and sets forth some of the legal underpinnings of the

Government's case. The purpose of the Memorandum was to facilitate

negotiations by demonstrating to Defendants the supposed strength

of the Government' 5 case. In order to disclose the evidence

obtained through eIDs issued by DOJ, those who responded to ClOs

signed limited waivers. Tbese waivers permitted the OOJ to

disclose evidence otherwise protected by the confidentiality

provisions of the Antitrust Civil Process Act (the "ACPA"), 15

U.S.c. § 1313(C), only to Defendants and potential defendants and

only for the purpose of settlement negotiations with these

Defendants and potential defendants.

Entry of the proposed Consent Decree is sUbject to the

Antitrust Procedures and Penalties Act (the "APPA" or "Tunney

Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 16. On July 17, 1996, in accordance with

procedures outlined in the APPA, the Covernment submitted materials

to the court, including a Competitive Impact statement ("CIS")

summarizing the evidence supporting the allegations in the

complaint and descrihing the resolution set forth in the proposed

a



NOV 27 '96 13:30 FR S&S CCC M7• TO 06111f0652600009 P.12/38

Decree. The Government also published proposed settlement

documents in the Federal Register and newspapers, thus initiating

the process of public comment and court consideration of the

proposed consent decree required by the Tunney Act.

Plaintiffs filed notice of the instant motion on August

28, 1996, the Court received opposition and reply papers, and oral

argument was heard on October 16, 1996. Plaintiffs simultaneously

filed a motion in the MUltidistrict Action seeking to cOll1pel

production of all eID deposition transcripts in the MUltidistrict

Defendants' control and the Settlement Memorandum and evidentiary

materials referenced therein. Post-arc:Jument submissions were

received until November 15, 1996, at whiCh time the matter was

deemed fully sUbmitted. 3

Discussion

I. The Motion to Intervene will Be Granted for the Limited
purposes Advanced

The Tunney Act, 15 U.S.C. § 16, was designed to expose

consent decree proceedings to public scrutiny in order to enhance

the likelihood that antitrust decrees would serve the public

interest in eliminating anticompetitive behavior. See H. Rep. No.

3. Plaintiffs' discovery motion in the companion Multidistrict
.Q~~gn ~. ggcige~ by a separate opinion issued by this Court today.
On November 15, 1996, the Government filed its Response eo Public
Comments and moved for entry of the proposed Order.
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93-1463, 93ra Cong., 2d Sess., rgprinted in 1974 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6535,

6536 ("it is imperative that the integrity of and public confidence

in procedures relating to settlements via consent decree procedures

be assured"): United States v. Microsoft Corp. , 56 F.3d 1448, 1458

(D.C. cir. 1995) (purpose of Tunney Act was to prevent jUdicial

"rubber stamping" of antitrust consent decrees).

Section 16 of Title 15 of the United States Code provides

for a process of judicial consideration and public scrutiny of

proposed consent decrees. section 16 (b) requires that certain

materials be filed with the court ana published in the Federal

register for public comment. section 16(C) provides for

publication of summaries of certain materials in newspapers.

Section 16(d) requires the Government to respond to public comments

on the proposed decree. Section l6(e) directs the district court

to determine Whether the proposed consent decree is in the public

interest, considering several enumerated factors, before entering

jUdgment on the decree. Section 16(f) permits the court to use a

nUmber of procedures to gather additional information in making its

public interest determination, inclUding taking testimony and

appointing special masters. Section 16(g) requires defendants to

disclose lobbying contacts with any officer or employee of the

United States concerning the proposed decree.

10
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Section 16{f) (3) provides that, in making its

determination as to whether the entry of a consent decree is "in

the public interest, " the Court may:

Authorize full or limited participation in proceedings
before the court by interested persons or agencies,
including appearance amicus curiae, intervention as a
party pursuant to the Fgderal RullS of Civil Procedure,
examination of witnesses or documentary materials, or
participation in any other manner and extent which serves
the public interest as the court may deem appropriate •. . .

(emphasis added).

Moreover, in making its pUblic interest determination,

a court may consider "the impact of entry of [a consent decree]

upon the public generally and individuals alleging specific injury

from the violations set forth in the complaint ••••" 15 U.S.C.

§ 16(e) (2). Permitting plaintiffs in a treble damages action to

intervene in a parallel Tunney Act proceeding may assist the court

i~ determining the impact of the proposed consent decree on the

interests of those private litigants alleging injury.

Plaintiffs move for mandatory intervention pursuant to

Rule 24(a)(2), Fed.R.eiv.p., or, in the alternative, permissive

intervention pursuant to RUle 24(b), Fed.R.eiv.p. Because

Plaintiffs will be permitted to intervene pursuant to Rule 24(b},

the eourt need not address whether Plaintiffs satisfy the standards

for mandatory intervention.

11
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A court has discretion to allow permissive intervention

in a consent decree proceeding such as this. See.~, United

States v. American Cyanamid co., 719 F.2d 558, 563 (2d Cir. 1983)

(affirming permissive intervention in antitrust consent decree

proceedings); United States v. American Telephone and Telegraph

~, 552 F. Supp. 131, 218-19 (D.D.C. 1982) (intervenor status

granted in antitrust consent decree proceedings; intervenors

permitted to file briefs, participate in proceedings and oral

argument, and appeal the entry of the consent decree ), aff'd sub

nom. Maryland v, United States, 460 U.S. 1001 (19B3).

Moreover, our Court of Appeals has suggested that

intervention under Rule 24 is the proper meChanism for a non-party

to seek modification of a protective order and thus to gain access

to information generated through jUdicial proceedings. See,~,

Palmieri v, state of New York, 779 F.2d 861, 864 (2d Cir. 1985);

Martinaell v, International Tel. &Tel. Corp., 594 F.2d 291, 293-94

(2d cir. 1979); see ~ In re Nasdaq Market-Makers Antitrust

Litigation, 164 F.R.D. 346, 351 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).

Rule 24(0), in relevant part, provides:

Upon timely application anyone may be permitted to
intervene in an action • • • When an applicant' S claim or
defense and the main action have a question of law or
fact in common. . . • In exercising its discretion the
court shall consider whether the intervention will unduly
dela~ or prejudice the adjUdication of the rights of the
oriq~nal parties.

12
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The Governlllent and Defendants in this action do not

seriously dispute that the Multidistrict Action shares questions of

law and fact in common. with the Govermnent Action. The two

complaints allege essentially the same conduct on the part· of

Nasdaq market-makers, and both cClllplaints assert that this conduct

violated the Sherman Act.

However, the Government does contend that the specific

issues to be determined in the Tunney Act proceeding are different

from the issues in the Plaintiffs' action. The Government argues

that the prilllary issue in the Tunney Act proceeding is whether the

proposed consent decree is in the public interest, while the

primary issue in the private action is whether Plaintiffs are

entitled to damages.

This attempt to narrowly define the' main action" to mean

only the Tunney Act proceeding inappropriately limits the court's

discretion to permit intervention. Rule 24 permits intervention in

the Government" action," not merely the Tunney Act proceeding. The

"main action,· within the meaning of the rule, is not the Tunney

Act proceeding. but the entire Government action seeking to remedy

alleged violations of the antitrust law. Therefore, the Plaintiffs

have met the threshold condition for permissive intervention that

there be common issues of law and fact between the two claims.

13
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However, the Government and Defendants urge the Court to

exercise its discretion and deny intervention based on the risk

that intervention would "unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication

of the rights of the original parties. It They contend that most

courts have denied intervention in similar circumstances because of

the inevitability of delay when new parties are added. ~ e.g.,

united States v. International Business Machines corp., No. 72-344,

1995 WL 366383, *5 (S.D.N.y. June 19, 1995) ("l.Jm") (denying

permissive intervention because, inter alia, potential for

unwarranted delay outweighed any benefit from intervention). An

intervenor, they contend, may have the right to file counterclaims

and cross-claims, to depose witnesses and to appeal from orders of

the court. Any such action, they argue, would only delay entry of

the Stipulation and WOUld, as a reSUlt, delay the initiation of

enforcement procedures, inclUding taping and monitoring of

telephone conversation.

Defendants and the Government also argue that the Tunney

Act facilitates a consolidated Government response to all comments

and that intervention would undermine the efficiency of such

consolidated proceedings. The Tunney Act requires that such

responses, together with the underlying comments, be filed with the

Court. ~ 15 U.S.C. §§ 16(d), (f). The parties to this action

urge that Plaintiffs' formal intervention would impose upon the

Court and the 003 the burdensome task of separately responding to

and ruling on Plaintiffs' Objections.

14
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The possible delays imposed on the Court and the existing

parties to this case by intervention are not unduly burdensome in

light of the potential benefit of intervenors' vigorous litigation

of the prospective protective order and the discoverability of the

Settlement Memoramlum. Significantly, this action provides the

only forum in which to seek disclosure of the Settlement Memorandu:m

(and appeal from the Court's decision thereon), since it will not

be in the possession of parties to the Multidistrict action.

The proposed intervention in the IBM case, cited by the

Government and the Defendants for the proposition that intervention

should normally be denied in consent decree proceedings, would have

required completely neW discovery and the introduction of new

evidence and legal issues into the case. 1995 WL 366383, *5. The

.IJ2M court distinguished United States v. Americ:;ap Telephone and

Telegraph Co., 552 F. Supp. at 218-19 (in which the court granted

intervention in antitrust consent decree proceedings) on the

grounds that the intervening parties in AT&T were limited to

sul:mtission of cO'llllllents, engaging in oral arqument and filing

appeals, not conducting discovery or developing evidence. ~,

1995 WL 366383 at *6.

Here, Plaintiffs are being permitted to intervene for two

very limited purposes: (1) to ma~e a concurrent motion to disclose

a single document (along with the underlying depositions and

documentary evidence expressly re~err.d ~o ~h.r.in) to which they

15
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do not have access in their private action, and (2) to raise an

objection to a sin~le provision of the proposed consent decree.

Resolving the motion to compel disclosure of the Settlement

Memorandum and underlying documents will not delay the proceedings

any more than resolving the motion to intervene, since this opinion

decides both motions simultaneously. The plaintiffs' obj ections to

the prospective non-disclosure provisions of the proposed decree

raise purely legal questions that will not require additional

discovery or evidence. As in AXil, Plaintiffs here will be limited

to SUbmitting comments on the decree, engaging in oral argument,

and filing appeals. Any delay incident to the additional argument

required to decide this issue or to any appeal therefrom is not

• undue" given the significance of the legal issues raised.

The Defendants' assertion that intervention will require

this court to address Plaintiffs' objections to the proposed

consent Decree separately from the objections raised by

commentators from the pUblic is unfounded. If the Government has

not already responded to the specific Objection raised by

Plaintiffs in this IIlotion, perhaps because no public comments

addressed the issue, they may be required to make an additional

submission. However, all parties have already prepared written

argument on the issue. Any additional effort required will be

minimal.

1.6
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The Government and Defendants further contend that the

interests of Plaintiffs can be protected adequately without

intervention. They claim that Plaintiffs will be able to seek

discovery of the Settlement Memorandum and underlying materials in

the Multidistrict action. They "r'9Ue further that 1:l1ere is no

reason to permit Plaintiffs to submit their views to this Court as

intervenors or amici when they have an opportunity to comment on

the proposed order pursuant to the pUblic c01lIIDent provisions of the

Tunney Act. See United states v, G. Heileman Brewing Co., 563 F.

Supp. 642, 652 (0. Del. 1983) (" [uJnder the APPA, courts have

rejected requests for third party participation in the absence of

a showing that the statute's comment procedure is inadequate for

evaluation of a complainant's views'): ynited States v. carrels

Development Corp., 454 F. supp. 1215,1221-22 (N.D.N.Y. 1978)

(denying request for amicus participation where "the purposes for

granting such participation have already been aChieved here since

the moving parties have set forth their views in considerable

detail .•. in comments submitted to the Government under the

APPA' l .

The Government and the Defendants urge that reliance on

the Tunney Act's comment procedure, as opposed to intervention,

would also be consistent with Congressional intent. They cite an

interpretation of the legislative history contained in Heileman

Brewing:

17
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Conqress expected that the district court ·would adduce
the necessary information throuqh the least complicated
and least time-consuming means possible.· • • • Hence,
the legislative history reveals that the main purpose of
the bill was • to encourage additional comments and
response by more adequate notice to the public· and not
to invite intervention with all of the attendant
problems, complexities, and delays that such
participation would inevitably involve. . • • According
to the bill's chief sponsor, Senator John Tunney, the
[Tunney Act's J proponents did • not seek to open the
floodgates to litigation, nor has anyone argued that the
bill, in its final version and as it was endorsed by all
members of the JUdiciary committee would do so.·

~ at 652-53 (citing S. Rep. No. 299. 93rd Cong., 1st Sess. 6-7

(1973); H.R. Rep. No. 1463. 93rd Cong., 2d Sess. 8 (1974), 1974

U.S.C.C.A.N. 6535; 119 Conq. Rae. 24598-24599 (1973) (remarks of

Sen. Tunney) 1 120 Congo Ree. 36343-36344 (*1974) (remarks of Rep.

Jordan».

While it may be true that some aspects of the legislative

history suggest a preference for using the public comment

mechanisms in §§ 16(b). (c) and (d), the statute expressly permits

intervention. and some courts have exercised their discretion to

allow intervention. See American cyanamid, 719 F.2d at 5631 AIiI,

552 F. supp. at 218-219. Here, intervention is appropriate because

not all of the Plaintiffs' asserted interests can be protected

through the public comment process. As the Government conceded at

oral argument, Plaintiffs will be unable to compel production of

the Settlement Memorandum in their private ease, since Defendants

are not in possession of the Memorandum. Moreover, if plaintiffs'

.9•• v.hi~le for seekinq the Settlement Memorandum or objecting to

18
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the prospective non-disclosure provision is public comment, they

would be unable, as non-parties, to appeal an adverse decision.'

4. Plaintiffs also contend that intervention in this action is
necessary to challenge the non-disclosure provision, because if
they wait to challenge the provision in a separate proceeding, the
Defendants will argue that they were precluded from litigating an
issue that could have been litiqated durinq the consent decree
proceedings. It seems unlikely that Plaintiffs would actually be
barred from challenging the provision in later proceedinqs. If
Plaintiffs were not permitted to intervene as parties in this
action, they would not be bound by traditional principles of
collateral estoppel. Under the collateral estoppel doctrine, once
a court has decided an issue of fact or law necessary to its
judgment, that decision is conclusive in a subsequent Buit
involVing a party to the prior litiqation. 9ni't:ed States y.
Mendoza, 464 U.S. 154, 158 (1984). Even so-called ·non-mutual"
collateral estoppel can only be asserted aqainst parties (or
privies of parties) to the prior action. See..i.IL.. at 159 n.4
(describing offensive and defensive non-mutual collateral
estoppel). While the supreme Court has indicated that an
individual's failure to intervene in a prior proceeding could
preclude that individual from making offensive use of a prior
advantageous jUdgment, Parklane Hosiery Co. v. Shore, 439 9.S. 322,
331 (1979), there is no reason that such a non-party would be bound
by an adverse determination in a case to which it was not a party.

Further, it is not likely that Defendants could
successfully argue in a later proceeding that Plaintiffs should be
precluded from litigating the validity of the prospective non
disclosure provision of the decree because the Government
represented Plaintiffs' interests in the prior action. In Sam Fox
Publishing Co. v. United States, 366 U.S. 683, 689 (1961), the
Supreme Court denied a private parties' intervention in a
government antitrust action on the qrounds that • a person whose
private interests coincide with the public interest in government
antitrust litigation is nonetheless not bound by the eventuality of
such litigation." Moreover, the entry of the consent decree is not
an adjudication on the merits that can give rise to issue
preclusion of the sort Plaintiffs fear. See rAM National Pension
Fund y. Industrial Gear Mfa, co" 723 F.2d 944, 949 & n.7 (D.C.
Cir. 1983) (consent decree no basis for issue preclusion becaUse no
judicial determination of questions of law or fact).
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Plaintiffs will be permitted to intervene for the limited

purposes of making their motion to compel disclosure of the

Settlement Memorandum (and underlyinq evidence referred to therein)

and to raise objections to the prospective nondisclosure provisions

of the consent decree.

II. ne Government Jill Not se CompellelS to Produce the
Bettlewent Memorandum

Plaintiffs advance two arguments for disclosure of the

Settlement Memorandu~ and its underlying evidentiary materials.

First, they argue that the Settlement Memorandum is a

"determinative document," required to be disclosed under 15 U.S.C.

§ 16 (b) • Second, they argue that the Court should exercise its

discretion to order production of the documents pursuant to 15

U.S.C. § l?(f)(J), Which permits the court to "authorize.

examination of ••• documentary materialS."

The Settlement Memorandum
"Determinative Document"

is Not 11

The Tunney Act, 15 U.S.C. §16(b), provides that "any

other materials and documents which the United States considered

determinative in formulating [a proposed consent decree), shall

also be made available to the public at the district court." The

government has clai)lled that there are no "determinative" documents

or )lIaterial. r.quired to b. submitted in this c ••••
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Although the Government's determinations in prosecuting

an antitrust case are entitled to eonsiderable deference, see

Microsoft, 56 F.3d at 1461, at least one court has decided that the

Government's conclusion that there are no determinative documents

is subject to independent judicial review, and that disclosure of

documents the court deems determinative may be ordered. ~ ynited

States v. Central contracting Co., 531 F. Supp. 133, 537 F. supp.

571 (E.O. Va. 1982).

Plaintiffs contend that the Settlement Memorandum and

associated materials provided to Defendants in advance of filing

and expressly referenced in the Settlement Memorandum were

determinative documents and should be made pUblic. They argue that

the Settlement Memorandum is a determinative doeument because it

contributed to the Defendants' decision to enter into a consent

decree.

Plaintiffs rely primarily on the Central Contracting

cases, in Which the district court held that determinative

documents are those 'materials and documents that SUbstantially

contribute to the determination (by the government) to proceed by

consent decree." 537 F. Supp. at 577. In applying this standard,

the central Contracting court compelled the Government to disclose

a letter from one of the defendants in the case and a plea

agreement in a prior criminal prosecution of the same defendant.

Id. at 576-78. The letter related information concerning the
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defendant's financial circumstances and referred to terms on which

the defendant would be willing to settle. The plea agreement

apparently included a stipulation that the defendant would accept

a civil consent decree very much like that proposed in the civil

case before the Central Contracting court.

The Settlement MemorandUm Plaintiffs seek is unlike the

documents considered • determinative" by the Central contractinq

court. The documents in Central Contractinq were non-evidentiary

documents prepared by sources external to the DO,] that did not

relate directly to the strength of the Government' s case on the

merits, but nonetheless bore heavily on the Government's

determination to proceed by consent decree and on the shape of the

relief itself. Here, the Settlement Memorandum is a document

related directly to the merits of the case and created internally

by the DO,]. It has been represented that it organizes the

Government's evidence and legal theory for the purpose of

facilitating a consent decree, which the Government already

believed would be in the pUblic interest. It did not ·determine·

the Government' s decision to enter into a consent decree or the

shape of the proposed relief, any more than the individual elements

of evidence it contained determined the relief. It was, instead,

the result of the internal effort of DOJ' to organize its evidence

for the purpose of evaluating its case and presenting it to

Defendants in settlement negotiations.
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Moreover, Central contracting's broad definition of

"determinative documents' may conflict with Congress's intent to

maintain the viability of consent decrees as means of resolving

antitrust cases. In enacting the Tunney Act, Congress reccqnized

the "high rate of settlement in public antitrust cases" and wished

to "encourager] settlement by consent decrees as part of the legal

policies expressed in the antitrust laws." H.R. Rep. 93-1463 at 6.

It wanted to remedy abuses in the consent decree process by

focussing jUdicial and pUblic scrutiny on "the Justice Department's

decision to enter into a proposal for a consent decree," il;l. at 7,

but not at the expense of eliminating the decree as a practicable

means of resolving antitrust matters. The purpose of the

competitive impact statement, the pUblic co~ent procedures, and

the requirement that a defendant reveal lobbying contacts with the

government (15 U.S.C. 16(g», are "to enable a court to determine

Whether a proposed consent decree is in the 'public interest'"~.

at 21, not to evaluate the strength of the Government's case.

Plaintiffs' expansive interpretation of "determinative

document" is inconsistent with the Tunney Act's limited purpose of

ascertaining whether a proposed consent decree is within the scope

of the public interest. under the Tunney Act, "the court is only

authorized to review the decree itself," and is "not empowered to

review the actions or behavior of the Department of Justice."

Microsoft, 56 F.3d at 1459. Moreover, the Government's jUdgments

in a Tunney Act ;proceedinq are en1:.itleet 'to de1:erence. ~••t 1411J..
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